
IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE DISTRICT OF COLORADO

Civil Action No. 02-B-2235 (CBS)

COLORADO CROSS-DISABILITY COALITION, a Colorado non-profit corporation,
CARRIE ANN LUCAS, and 
ROBIN STEPHENS,

Plaintiffs,

v.

ABERCROMBIE & FITCH STORES, INC., an Ohio corporation,
TOO (DELAWARE), INC., a Delaware corporation
WILLIAMS-SONOMA STORES, INC., a California Corporation,
THE BUCKLE, INC., a Nebraska Corporation,
THE DISCOVERY CHANNEL STORE, INC., a Delaware corporation, 
THE BOMBAY COMPANY, INC., a Delaware corporation, 
GALYAN’S TRADING COMPANY, INC., an Indiana corporation,
AE OUTFITTERS RETAIL CO., an Delaware corporation,
SURF ASSOCIATES, INC., d/b/a B. C. SURF & SPORT, LTD., a Colorado Corporation,
H. W. HOME, INC., a Colorado corporation,
WALDEN BOOK COMPANY, INC., a Colorado corporation,
PACIFIC SUNWEAR STORES, INC., a California corporation,

    Defendants.
                                                                                                                                                      

AMENDED COMPLAINT
                                                                                                                                                      

Plaintiffs Colorado Cross-Disability Coalition, Carrie Ann Lucas and Robin Stephens by

and through their attorneys Kevin W. Williams, Esq., and Fox & Robertson, P.C., hereby submit

this Amended Complaint under the Americans with Disabilities Act for discrimination on the

basis of disability in the provision of its goods, services, facilities, privileges and

accommodations.
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INTRODUCTION

1. On July 12, 1990, Congress enacted the Americans with Disabilities Act

(“ADA”), 42 U.S.C. § 12101, et seq., establishing the most important civil rights law for persons

with disabilities in our country’s history. The ADA became effective as to Defendants on

January 26, 1993.  One of the principal goals of the ADA is the integration of people with

disabilities into our economic and social life.  

2. Title III of the ADA provides that “[n]o individual shall be discriminated against

on the basis of disability in the full and equal enjoyment of the goods, services, facilities,

privileges, advantages, or accommodations of any place of public accommodation by any person

who owns, leases (or leases to), or operates a place of public accommodation.”  42 U.S.C.

§ 12182(a).  

3. The ADA requires that public accommodations built after January 26, 1993, be

“readily accessible to and usable by individuals with disabilities.”  42 U.S.C. §12183(a)(1).

4. More than twelve years after the passage of the ADA, Defendants’ stores, all

located at FlatIron Crossing Mall in Broomfield, Colorado, contain features that make them

inaccessible and thereby discriminate against patrons who use wheelchairs.

JURISDICTION

5. This Court has subject matter jurisdiction over this action pursuant to 28 U.S.C.

§§ 1331 and 1343.

6. Venue is proper within this District pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1391.

PARTIES
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7. Plaintiff Colorado Cross-Disability Coalition (“CCDC”) is a Colorado non-profit

corporation whose members are persons with disabilities and their nondisabled allies.  As such,

CCDC is an entity in a known relationship with and/or association with individuals with known

disabilities. 

8. Plaintiff Carrie Ann Lucas is and was at all times material hereto a resident of

Colorado.  As a result of a bone infection and bone tumor and related treatment, Ms. Lucas is

substantially impaired in several major life activities.  She requires a wheelchair for mobility.

9. Plaintiff Robin Stephens is and was at all times material hereto a resident of

Colorado.  Ms. Stephens has cerebral palsy and is, as a result, substantially impaired in several

major life activities.  She requires a wheelchair for mobility.

10. Defendant Abercrombie & Fitch Stores, Inc. is a corporation incorporated in the

state of Ohio with its principal place of business at 4 Limited Parkway East, Reynoldsburg,

Ohio, 43068.  Abercrombie & Fitch Stores, Inc. is registered to do business in the state of

Colorado.  On information and belief, Abercrombie & Fitch Stores, Inc. leases premises at

FlatIron Crossing Mall at which it operates an Abercrombie & Fitch and an abercrombie store.  

11. Defendant Too (Delaware), Inc. is a corporation, incorporated in the state of

Delaware with its principal place of business at 8323 Walton Parkway, New Albany, Ohio

43054.  Too (Delaware), Inc. is registered to do business in the state of Colorado.  On

information and belief, Too (Delaware), Inc. leases premises at FlatIron Crossing Mall at which

it operates a Limited Too store.
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12. Defendant Williams-Sonoma Stores, Inc. is a corporation incorporated in the state

of California with its principal place of business at 3250 Van Ners Avenue, San Francisco,

California, 94109.  Williams-Sonoma Stores, Inc. is registered to do business in the state of

Colorado.  On information and belief, Williams-Sonoma Stores, Inc. leases premises at FlatIron

Crossing Mall at which it operates a Pottery Barn store and a Williams-Sonoma store.  

13. Defendant The Buckle, Inc. is a corporation incorporated in the state of Nebraska

with its principal place of business at 2407 W. 24th, Kearney, Nebraska, 68847.  The Buckle,

Inc,  is registered to do business in the state of Colorado. On information and belief, The Buckle,

Inc. leases premises at FlatIron Crossing Mall at which it operates a Buckle store.  

14.   Defendant The Discovery Channel Store, Inc. is a corporation incorporated in

the state of Delaware with its principal place of business at 7700 Wisconsin Avenue, Bethesda,

Maryland 20814.  The Discovery Channel Store, Inc. is registered to do business in the state of

Colorado.  On information and belief, The Discovery Channel Store, Inc. leases premises at

FlatIron Crossing Mall at which it operates a Discovery Channel store.  

15. Defendant The Bombay Company, Inc. is a corporation incorporated in the state

of Delaware with its principal place of business at 550 Bailey Avenue, Suite 700, Fort Worth,

Texas 76107.  The Bombay Company, Inc. is registered to do business in the state of Colorado. 

On information and belief, The Bombay Company, Inc. leases premises at FlatIron Crossing

Mall at which it operates a Bombay store. 

16. Defendant Galyan’s Trading Company, Inc. is a corporation incorporated in the

state of Indiana with its principal place of business at 2437 East Main Street, Plainfield, Indiana
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46168.  Galyan’s Trading Company, Inc. is registered to do business in the state of Colorado. 

On information and belief, Galyan’s Trading Company, Inc. leases premises at FlatIron Crossing

Mall at which it operates a Galyan’s store. 

17. Defendant AE Outfitters Retail Co. is a corporation incorporated in the state of

Delaware, with its principal place of business at 150 Thorn Hill Drive, Warrendale, Pennsylvania

15086.  AE Outfitters Retail Co. is registered to do business in the state of Colorado. On

information and belief, AE Outfitters Retail Co. leases premises at FlatIron Crossing Mall at

which it operates a American Eagle Outfitters store. 

18. Defendant Surf Associates, Inc., d/b/a B.C. Surf & Sport, Ltd. is a corporation

incorporated in the state of Colorado with its principal place of business at 6657 West Ottawa

Avenue #A-1, Littleton, Colorado 80128.  Surf Associates, Inc. is registered to do business in the

state of Colorado.  On information and belief, Surf Associates, Inc. leases premises at FlatIron

Crossing Mall at which it operates a B. C. Surf and Sport store. 

19. Defendant H. W. Home, Inc. is a corporation incorporated in the state of Colorado

of Colorado with its principal place of business at 1941 Pearl Street, Boulder, Colorado 80302. 

H. W. Home, Inc. is registered to do business in the state of Colorado.  On information and

belief, H. W. Home, Inc. leases premises at FlatIron Crossing Mall at which it operates an H. W.

Home store. 

20. Defendant Walden Book Company, Inc. is a corporation incorporated in the state

of Colorado with its principal place of business at 100 Phoenix Drive, Ann Arbor, Michigan

48107.  Walden Book Company, Inc. is registered to do business in the state of Colorado.  On
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information and belief, Walden Book Company, Inc. leases premises at FlatIron Crossing Mall at

which it operates a Waldenbooks store.  

21. Defendant Pacific Sunwear Stores, Inc. incorporated in the state of California

with its principal place of business at 3450 E. Mira Loma Ave., Anaheim, CA 92817.  Pacific

Sunwear Stores, Inc. is registered to do business in the state of Colorado.  On information and

belief, Pacific Sunwear Stores, Inc. leases premises at FlatIron Crossing Mall at which it

operates a PacSun store.

FACTS

22. FlatIron Crossing Mall (“FlatIron” or “the Mall”) is a 1.5 million square foot

shopping center located in Broomfield, Colorado.  FlatIron opened on August 11, 2000 and, at

the time of opening, on information and belief, featured about 130 specialty shops, and several

department stores, including Nordstrom,  Dillard’s, Lord and Taylor, and Foley’s.  FlatIron and

each of the stores within it is a public accommodation that provides goods, services, facilities,

privileges, advantages, and/or accommodations to the general public. 

23. Since FlatIron opened on August 11, 2000, Plaintiff Carrie Ann Lucas has

shopped there on numerous occasions.  Ms. Lucas often shops with her daughter, Heather, who

also uses a wheelchair.  She has gone Christmas shopping at FlatIron, has shopped there while

having portraits of her daughter taken, and she has shopped for herself and for gifts for others. 

During her visits to FlatIron Mall, she has experienced numerous barriers to accessibility,

including but not limited to customer service counters that are inaccessible, merchandise display
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areas that are inaccessible, aisles that are too narrow to access, and dressing rooms that are too

small to accommodate her and her wheelchair or are otherwise inaccessible.

24. Ms. Lucas went to FlatIron on several occasions, including but not limited to

August 11, 2000, November 18, 2000, September 1, 2001, November 23, 2001, December 19,

2001, March 9, 2002, May 18, 2002, and November 10, 2002 to shop and to survey the access at

FlatIron Mall. 

25. On these occasions, Ms. Lucas encountered a number of access problems that

denied her the full and equal enjoyment of the goods, services, facilities, privileges, advantages

and accommodations at many of the stores at of FlatIron.

26. Plaintiff Robin Stephens has shopped at FlatIron on several occasions since the

Mall’s opening on August 11, 2000. Ms. Stephens has shopped for herself and for gifts for

others.  During her visits to FlatIron Mall, she has experienced numerous barriers to

accessibility, including but not limited to customer service counters that are inaccessible,

merchandise display areas that are inaccessible, aisles that are too narrow to access, and dressing

rooms that are too small to accommodate her and her wheelchair or are otherwise inaccessible.

27. Ms. Stephens went to FlatIron Mall on several occasions, including but not

limited to August 11, 2000, several visits in 2001, and on November 27, 2002 to shop and to

survey the access at FlatIron Mall. 

28. On these occasions, Ms. Stephens encountered a number of access problems that

denied her the full and equal enjoyment of the goods, services, facilities, privileges, advantages

and accommodations at many of the stores at of FlatIron.
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29. The barriers encountered by Ms. Lucas and Ms. Stephens include but are not

limited to the ones described herein.

30. The Abercrombie & Fitch store has had several aisles within the store that were

too narrow for Ms. Lucas’s and Ms. Stephens’s wheelchairs to access.  Merchandise displays

were inaccessible.  At times, there was no accessible route from the store entrance to the

checkout counters and fitting rooms. 

31. The Abercrombie store has had several aisles within the store that were too

narrow for Ms. Lucas’s  and Ms. Stephens’s wheelchairs to access.  Merchandise displays were

inaccessible.  There was no accessible route from the store entrance to the checkout counters and

fitting rooms.

32. The Limited Too store has had many aisles within the store that were too narrow

for Ms. Lucas’s  and Ms. Stephens’s wheelchairs to access.  Merchandise displays were

inaccessible. On every trip to FlatIron, Ms. Lucas was unable to access most of the merchandise

in the store.  There was no accessible route from the store entrance to the checkout counters and

fitting rooms.

33. The Pottery Barn store has had several aisles within the store that were too narrow

for Ms. Lucas’s and Ms. Stephens’s wheelchairs to access.  Merchandise displays were

inaccessible.  There was no accessible route from the store entrance to the checkout counters.

34. The Williams-Sonoma store has customer service counters with cash registers; the

counters exceed 36 inches in height.  These counters are inaccessible to people who use

wheelchairs.   Although there was an attachment to the counter that appears to serve as an
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auxiliary counter, Ms. Lucas was unable to use this counter because it was too heavy for her to

lift.

35. The Buckle store has had several aisles within the store that were too narrow for

Ms. Lucas’s and Ms. Stephens’s wheelchairs to access.  Merchandise displays were inaccessible.

Although there was an attachment to the counter that appears to serve as an auxiliary counter,

Ms. Lucas was unable to use this counter because it was too heavy for her to lift.

36. The Discovery Channel Store has had several aisles within the store that were too

narrow for Ms. Lucas’s and Ms. Stephens’s wheelchairs to access.  Merchandise displays were

inaccessible.  There was not an accessible route from the store entrance to the checkout counter. 

37. The Bombay store has had many aisles within the store that were too narrow for

Ms. Lucas’s and Ms. Stephens’s wheelchairs to access.  Merchandise displays were inaccessible.

There was not an accessible route from the store entrance to the checkout counter. 

38. The Galyan’s store has had many aisles within the store that were too narrow for

Ms. Lucas’s and Ms. Stephens’s wheelchairs to access.  On one occasion, Ms. Lucas was unable

to enter the elevator because a pallet of merchandise was stored in the elevator entrance. On

every visit, merchandise blocked access to aisles within the store.  Merchandise displays were

inaccessible.  There was no accessible route to fitting rooms and customer service counters.  

39. The American Eagle Outfitters store has had many aisles within the store that

were too narrow for Ms. Lucas’s and Ms. Stephens’s wheelchairs to access.  There was no

accessible route from the store entrance to the checkout counters and fitting rooms.  Merchandise

displays were inaccessible.  Although there is a lowered portion of the check-out counter which
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may provide access for people who use wheelchairs, on several visits, the lowered counter was

unuseable because it was filled with boxes while the inaccessible counters were not.  There has

been a barrier installed at the checkout counter to cause people to line up at the cash register,

allowing only eighteen inches in width next to the service counter.  This is too narrow for

wheelchair passage.

40. The B. C. Surf and Sport store has had several aisles within the store that were too

narrow for Ms. Lucas’s and Ms. Stephens’s wheelchairs to access.  Merchandise displays were

inaccessible.  A large portion of the store is located at the top of several steps and has no ramp or

elevator access to that level.  The customer service counters are not accessible to people who use

wheelchairs.

41. The H. W. Home store has had several aisles within the store that were too narrow

for Ms. Lucas’s and Ms. Stephens’s wheelchairs to access.  Merchandise displays were

inaccessible.  Ms. Lucas was also unable to use the lowered portion of the checkout counter

because it was blocked by merchandise.

42. The Waldenbooks store has had several aisles within the store that were too

narrow for Ms. Lucas’s and Ms. Stephens’s wheelchairs to access.  Merchandise displays were

inaccessible.  The Waldenbooks store has a lowered portion of the checkout counter, but it has

been unuseable because it has been blocked by merchandise displays and/or has had

merchandise displayed upon it.
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43. The PacSun store has had several aisles within the store that were too narrow for

Ms. Lucas’s and Ms. Stephens’s wheelchairs to access.  Merchandise displays were inaccessible.

44. After her visits to FlatIron Mall in or about December, 2001 and May 2002, Ms.

Lucas wrote letters to the managers of each of the stores referred to above and to the managers of

FlatIron Mall itself.  In these letters, Ms. Lucas described the access problems she encountered

and asked that these problems be corrected.

45. The General Manager of FlatIron Mall responded in two separate letters.

46. The Limited Too store responded by letter from its Human Resources Director,

dated December 26, 2001, stating that it is Limited Too’s goal to sell merchandise in an

environment that complies with all applicable laws.  Ms. Lucas returned to the Limited Too store

on at least three occasions after this letter, and the aisles remained inaccessible.

47. The Galyan’s store responded by letter from its Store Manager dated December

22, 2001, saying they had rearranged the presentation of their product.  Ms. Lucas has returned

to the Galyan’s store on at least three occasions after this letter, and the aisles remained

inaccessible.

48. The American Eagle Outfitters store responded by letter from its Customer

Relations Coordinator on June 11, 2002, saying they had addressed the access issues with the

store manager.  Ms. Lucas has returned to the store on at least one occasion after this time and

the aisles and checkout counter remained inaccessible.  
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49. The B.C. Surf and Sport store responded by letter from its Store Manager, dated

May 30, 2002.  The letter did not indicate that the store operators planned to make the

inaccessible portion of the store accessible.  Ms. Lucas has returned to the store on one occasion

after this point and a portion of the store remained up stairs.  

50. A person identifying herself as Abby from the PacSun corporate office responded

with a telephone call requesting a time to talk.  While this phone discussion did not occur, soon

after the initial call, store conditions improved.  Recent visits, however, demonstrate that the

store is once again accessible.

51. None of the other Defendants responded to Ms. Lucas’s letters.

52. Ms. Lucas and Ms. Stephens intend to continue to shop at FlatIron and would like

to have access to the inaccessible features described herein.  

53. CCDC’s purpose is to work for systemic change that promotes independence,

self-reliance, and full inclusion for people with disabilities in the entire community.  As part of

that purpose, CCDC seeks to ensure that persons with disabilities have access to -- and do not

encounter discrimination in -- public accommodations.  CCDC engages in extensive outreach as

well as advocacy and educational efforts to promote access for and combat discrimination

against people with disabilities.  This effort and this purpose have been and continue to be

adversely affected by Defendants’ violations of the ADA.  

54. CCDC has members who patronize the stores at issue in this litigation.
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55. CCDC’s members and their spouses, friends, relatives, and associates have been

injured and will continue to be injured by Defendants’ discrimination.  Plaintiffs Lucas and

Stephens are members of CCDC.

56. The elimination of discrimination, such as that of Defendant, and the integration

of persons with disabilities into the community are at the core of CCDC’s organizational

purpose.

57. The participation of individual CCDC members in the lawsuit is not required

either to resolve the claims at issue or to formulate relief.

CLAIM FOR RELIEF
(Violation of the Americans with Disabilities Act)

58. Plaintiffs reallege and incorporate by reference the allegations set forth in

paragraphs 1 - 57 above as if fully set forth herein.

59. Defendants Abercrombie & Fitch Stores, Inc., Too (Delaware), Inc., Williams-

Sonoma Stores, Inc., The Buckle, Inc., The Discovery Channel Store, Inc., The Bombay

Company, Inc., Galyan’s Trading Company, Inc., AE Outfitters Retail Co., Surf Associates, Inc.,

H. W. Home, Inc., Walden Book Company, Inc., and Pacific Sunwear Stores, Inc. will be

referred to collectively as the “Defendants.”

60. All Defendants own, lease, lease to and/or operate a place or places of public

accommodation.

61. Defendants’ violations of Title III of the Americans with Disabilities Act include

but are not limited to those described herein.
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62. Due to the actions and barriers to access described above at FlatIron stores,

Defendants have denied Plaintiffs the full and equal enjoyment of its goods, services, facilities,

privileges, advantages, or accommodations in violation of the ADA, in violation of 42 U.S.C.

§ 12182(a).

63. Defendants and/or their predecessors in interest designed and/or constructed

FlatIron Mall stores after January 26, 1993, with barriers that make their stores not readily

accessible to and usable by persons who use wheelchairs, thereby discriminating against

Plaintiffs in violation of 42 U.S.C. § 12183(a)(1).

64. Through the discriminatory practices outlined above, Defendants have subjected

Plaintiffs to a denial of the opportunity to participate in and benefit from many of the goods,

services, facilities, privileges, advantages, or accommodations of their stores in violation of 42

U.S.C. § 12183(b)(1)(A)(i).

65. Defendants’ actions have caused Plaintiffs to be afforded an opportunity to

participate in or benefit from the goods, services, facilities, privileges, advantages, or

accommodations of their stores that is not equal to that afforded to other individuals in violation

of 42 U.S.C. § 12183(b)(1)(A)(ii).

66. Defendants’ actions have caused Plaintiffs to be provided goods, services,

facilities, privileges, advantages, or accommodations that are different or separate from that

afforded to other individuals in violation of 42 U.S.C. § 12183(b)(1)(A)(iii).
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67. Defendants’ actions have caused Plaintiffs to be provided goods, services,

facilities, privileges, advantages, or accommodations that are segregated from those afforded to

other individuals in violation of 42 U.S.C. § 12183(b)(1)(B).

68. Defendants have failed to maintain the accessible features in their facilities at

FlatIron Mall in violation of 28 C.F.R. § 36.211.

69. Defendants failed to ensure that accessible routes were properly maintained and

free of obstructions in violation of 28 C.F.R. § 36.211.

70. Many of the features described above are out of compliance with the Americans

with Disabilities Act Accessibility Guidelines for Buildings and Facilities (“ADAAG”), 28

C.F.R. Part 36, Appendix A.

71. Plaintiffs have been damaged and will continue to be damaged by this

discrimination as more fully set forth above.

PRAYER FOR RELIEF

WHEREFORE, Plaintiffs respectfully pray:

1.     That this Court assume jurisdiction;

2.     That this Court issue a declaratory judgment declaring Defendants to be in violation

of the Americans with Disabilities Act;

3.     That this Court issue an injunction ordering Defendants to bring these stores into

compliance with the Americans with Disabilities Act;

5.     That this Court award Plaintiffs their reasonable attorneys’ fees and costs; and
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6.     That this Court award such additional or alternative relief as may be just, proper and

equitable.

Respectfully submitted,

           

                                     
Kevin W. Williams
Legal Program Director
Colorado Cross-Disability Coalition
655 Broadway, Suite 775
Denver, CO 80203
303.839.1775

Amy F. Robertson
Timothy P. Fox
Fox & Robertson, P.C.
910 - 16th Street , Suite 610
Denver, CO 80202 
303.595.9700

Dated: April 8, 2003 Attorneys for Plaintiffs

Address of Plaintiff Colorado Cross-Disability Coalition

655 Broadway
Suite 775
Denver, Colorado 80203

Address of Plaintiff Carrie Ann Lucas:

1350 Grant Street, #608
Denver, Colorado 80203

Address of Plaintiff Robin Stephens:

1466 South Lincoln
Denver, Colorado 80210
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